STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**

**Nov 02 2022**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS  
BENTLEY PRICE, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

Appellate Case No. 2021-000837

IN THE MATTER OF: Estate of Paul Brandon Barringer II

Hampton B. Luzak, .....Appellant

v.

Merrill B. Light, Merrill U. Barringer as Personal Representative of the  
Estate of Paul Brandon Barringer II, J. Randolph Light, Jr., Merrill B. Light  
as putative trustee of the Paul B. Barringer II Revocable Trust dated  
December 4, 1998, and Merrill B. Light as Trustee of the Merrill Barringer  
Light Revocable Trust, ..... Respondents

--and--

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **Did the trial court err in finding that CFRC had a right to intervene (Action 1919) pursuant to SCRCP 24(a)(2) (R. Vol. I, pp. 45-47)?**
2. **Did the trial court err in dismissing Ms. Luzak's claim for civil conspiracy on motion of CRFC, which had no interest in these proceedings (*Id.*)?**
3. **Did the trial court err in striking Ms. Luzak's claims for damages against Merrill Light on motion of CFRC (*Id.*)?**
4. **Did the trial court err in granting partial summary judgment to Merrill Light on the February 28, 2012 Will and Trust (R. Vol. I, pp. 59-78)?**
5. **Did the trial court err in ordering a bifurcation of the trial of the causes of action brought by Ms. Luzak when there were common issues of law or fact (R. Vol. I, pp. 36-38 and pp. 48-52)?**
6. **Did the trial court err in ordering that the equitable causes of action (Second and Third Causes of Action) set forth in the case of *Hampton Luzak v. Merrill U. Barringer*, 2019-CP-06-1253 and -1294 be tried before the remaining predominately legal causes of action in the consolidated causes of action (*Id.*)?**
7. **Did the trial court abuse its discretion in bifurcating the trial of Ms. Luzak's causes of action (*Id.*)?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant (Ms. Luzak) originally filed her complaint in the Beaufort County Probate Court on August 26, 2016 after the death of her father, Paul Barringer, in May 2016 and petitioned for removal to the Court of Common Pleas the same day. By order dated September 1, 2016 the Probate Court ordered the removal of Ms. Luzak's complaint and all related proceedings to the Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas. On September 7, 2016 Ms. Luzak filed a nearly identical complaint in the Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas in order to protect the trial court's jurisdiction. The two actions were consolidated by Order of Consolidation of Actions by Consent entered May 19, 2017. The Respondents answered that Complaint. Ms. Luzak filed and served her Amended Complaint on November 23, 2016 which asserts causes of action for damages for various torts, including fraud, conversion, breach of fiduciary duty and self-dealing, tortious

interference with inheritance and gifts, and civil conspiracy, as well as to set aside certain testamentary instruments of decedent Paul Barringer and also transfers and gift(s) for lack of capacity, undue influence, mistake, and fraud. Also, the Amended Complaint sought ancillary relief in the form of the imposition of a constructive trust and resulting trust. The Respondents duly and timely responsively pled.

On May 28, 2019, Ms. Luzak filed an action against Merrill U. Barringer in the Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas asserting causes of action for intentional interference with inheritancy and gifts, constructive trust and injunction, enforcement of a contract not to revoke and injunction, attorneys fees and costs, and civil conspiracy, to which the Respondents duly and timely responsively pled.<sup>1</sup>

In these actions, Ms. Luzak seeks damages from her sister, Merrill Light, her sister's husband, defendant Randy Light,<sup>2</sup> and Merrill U. Barringer, the mother of Ms. Luzak and Ms. Light, for the improper transfer of controlling stock in Coastal Forest Resources Company ("CFRC") and other assets from Paul Barringer's name. Ms. Luzak has also asserted claims to rescind the stock transfer and to set aside amendments to the will and revocable trust of Paul Barringer occurring after the onset of Paul Barringer's dementia on the grounds of undue influence committed by the defendants on Paul Barringer, lack of mental capacity of Paul Barringer, and other related causes of action.

On September 10, 2020 Merrill Light filed her first Motion for Summary Judgment to dismiss all of Ms. Luzak's causes of action. While the first Motion for Summary Judgment of Ms. Light was pending, Ms. Light and Respondent Merrill U. Barringer jointly filed a motion to

---

<sup>1</sup> Those actions were consolidated for purposes of discovery and trial with the 2016 case by order of consolidation filed December 3, 2019. (R. Vol. I, p. 25).

<sup>2</sup> Randy Light died on March 16, 2020.

bifurcate the two equitable causes of action involving the purported testamentary powers of appointment associated with Decedent's trusts and to set them for trial before the remaining causes of action. The Honorable Carmen Mullen denied Ms. Light's first summary judgment motion on December 30, 2020. By a separate order filed the same day, Judge Mullen ordered a bifurcation of the two equitable power of appointment related causes of action for a separate trial prior to a trial on all the remaining causes of action.<sup>3</sup>

On May 14, 2021 Merrill Light filed a second summary judgment motion before the Honorable Bentley Price again seeking a ruling that Paul Barringer's February 28, 2012 will and trust are valid documents in opposition to Ms. Luzak's seventh, eighth, and ninth causes of action to set aside the February 28, 2012 will and trust for lack of mental capacity, undue influence and mistake. Ms. Light's second summary judgment motion did not seek to have any of Decedent's later wills and trusts declared valid. On that same day, non-party CFRC filed its Motion for Intervention and Protective Relief ("Motion for Intervention") seeking to strike Ms. Luzak's civil conspiracy cause of action and the vast majority of her damages of approximately \$112 million. Following briefing and oral arguments on May 27, 2021, the trial court entered its order granting non-party CFRC's motion on June 7, 2021. On July 6, 2021, the Honorable Bentley Price granted Merrill Light's second motion for summary judgment, ruling that Decedent's February 28, 2012 will and trust were valid. On July 13, 2021 Judge Price denied Ms. Luzak's motion for reconsideration of the order granting non-party CFRC's Motion for Intervention, and on August 4, 2021 denied reconsideration of the order granting Merrill Light's second summary judgment motion.

---

<sup>3</sup> Ms. Luzak appealed the bifurcation issue to this Court which the Court declined to hear as interlocutory in appeal number 2021-000159. Ms. Luzak has petitioned the Supreme Court for a writ of certiorari on the bifurcation issue which is currently pending.

Additionally, the trial court issued its Order on Motions on June 7, 2021 ordering that trial “proceed on the bifurcated claims only. A trial on the first phase as indicated in Judge Mullen’s Order granting bifurcation is set to begin August 30, 2021.” The trial court denied Ms. Luzak’s motion to reconsider the Order on Motions on July 13, 2021, and Ms. Luzak appealed that order as part of this appeal on July 13, 2021. The appeal of that Order on Motions has been made to preserve Ms. Luzak’s rights with respect to bifurcation, and is included in her arguments below on bifurcation.

Ms. Luzak filed and served her Notice of Appeal, regarding the July 13 and August 4 orders, on August 5, 2021.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

CFRC is one of the largest privately held companies in the timber and lumber industries in the country. <https://coastalplywood.com/> It was founded and developed by Paul Barringer. Prior to Paul Barringer’s purported transfer of CFRC voting stock on September 11, 2012, the company’s voting stock was owned 31.2% each by Hampton Luzak and her sister Merrill Light through gifts from their father. The remaining shares were owned 20% by their father and 17.6% by an outside investing family, the Congers. (R. Vol. I, p. 220). The company also issued non-voting stock to the shareholders, and Paul Barringer gifted all of his non-voting stock to his children. (R. Vol. IX, p. 3961 ¶¶ 5-6 (hereafter “Affid. of H. Luzak”); *id.*, R. Vol. IX, p. 3985 ¶¶ 7-8 (hereafter “Affid. of K. Luzak”)). Prior to 2013 Ms. Luzak and her sister Merrill Light each owned approximately 37.1% of the non-voting stock, their brother Victor Barringer owned 8.1% (“Barringer Siblings”), and the Conger family owned the remaining 17.6%. Paul Barringer’s gifts of both voting and non-voting stock to his two daughters had been made in equal amounts so that each daughter owned the same number of shares. (*Id.* R. Vol. V, p. 2238). In February 2010, the

Barringer Siblings and CFRC entered into a shareholders' purchase agreement (Share Purchase Agreement) granting CFRC the right to purchase any CFRC stock offered for sale to or by any Barringer Sibling, in effect preventing any of the Barringer Siblings from purchasing shares to increase his or her ownership percentage above that set up by Paul Barringer. (*Id.* at Vol. V, R. p. 1965).

In approximately 1993, Paul Barringer placed Ms. Luzak's husband, Kevin Luzak, on the board of directors of CFRC's predecessor company. (R. Vol. IX, p. 3986 ¶ 2). In 2004, CFRC hired him as the president. (*Id.*) By 2009, Paul Barringer had stepped aside as chief executive officer with Kevin Luzak taking his place as CEO of CFRC. (R. Vol. II, p 465 ¶ 13; R. Vol. II, p. 678 ¶ 13).

The medical records show that as early as 2010, Paul Barringer began experiencing issues with onset of dementia including progressive memory loss and behavioral changes with brain atrophy. (R. Vol. VII, pp. 2934-2935). By 2011, family members and co-workers were e-mailing among each other their concerns about Paul Barringer's mental health. These communications included an e-mail from defendant Randy Light.<sup>4</sup> (*Id.* at R. Vol. V, pp. 2244-2245). Before becoming afflicted with Alzheimer's disease, Paul Barringer did not allow Randy Light to work for CFRC even though Paul Barringer was never told that Randy Light had run at least two Texas-based real estate companies he owned into bankruptcy, and was millions of dollars in debt from those failed ventures. (*Id.*; *Id.* at R. Vol. VII, p. 3003, line 18-p. 3005, line 10).<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> Randy Light's e-mail to Kevin Luzak on Feb. 21, 2011 stated: "...It is evident to Merrill and I that PBB is starting to experience different health issues that effect his judgement regarding every day decisions personally and business wise. It appears that this makes it harder for you to exercise your authority as President of CFRC if he will not listen. Merrill and I have absolutely no say in the operations of CFRC which PBB has made clear on many occasions. Merrill and I have total confidence in your ability to guide the Company in the direction that will benefit the stockholders the most. Our fear is PBB is going to attempt some irrational move that will harm the profitability of the Company simply to satisfy his desire to underwrite Victor or keep the stock holders graveling." (*sic*)

<sup>5</sup> These matters are not included in the designations of appellant. They are public court records, referenced here for

By December 2011, Paul Barringer had begun seeking medical assistance for cognitive impairment. (See, e.g., R. Vol. VII, pp. 2934-2935). In 2012, Paul Barringer and his wife continued to reside at their long-time residence in Hilton Head Island, South Carolina. Merrill Light and Randy Light also lived in Hilton Head Island. The Luzaks resided in New York City at this time. (See R. Vol. II, p. 514 ¶ 134; R. Vol. II, p. 706 ¶ 134).

After Paul Barringer sought treatment for memory deficits, on February 28, 2012 Merrill Light secretly became co-trustee with Paul Barringer of his purported revocable trust drafted by Merrill Light's long-time personal lawyer. (R. Vol. V, p. 2009). Under that trust, Merrill Light could act independently of Paul Barringer. No one ever told Ms. Luzak what was happening. (*Id.*; R. Vol. IX, p. 3969 ¶ 24; R. Vol. IX, p. 3995 ¶ 28).

From May 2 through May 4, 2012 Paul Barringer was hospitalized in Savannah, Georgia for issues related to mental confusion and urinary tract infection. An examining neurologist noted Paul Barringer had trouble following two-step commands such as touching his right hand to his left ear and showing two fingers upon request and opined that he had confusion with history of urinary retention and apparent aphasia. (R. Vol. VII, p. 2943). On May 30, 2012 he was diagnosed with early onset Alzheimer's disease by a leading neurologist at the Medical University of South Carolina. (*Id.* at R. Vol. VII, pp. 2952-2954)

On May 11, 2012, a few days after he had trouble following simple commands such as touching his ear with his hand, Paul Barringer purportedly executed a stock certificate transferring his voting stock to himself as trustee of his revocable trust. The share certificate was signed by

---

purposes of citation in the brief in accordance with Rule 208(b)(1)(C), SCACR, and can be provided to the Court pursuant to Rule 212, SCACR. SW Loan OO, LP countercl., *J. Randolph Light Jr. et al. v. Stillwater National Bank and Trust Company et al.*, Case No. 12-0384-A (Tex. Dist. Ct. Smith County (7<sup>th</sup> Dist.) 2012); Appellant's Brief, *Victor Lissiak Jr. v. SW Loan OO, L.P.*, Appellate Case No. 12-14-00344-CV (Tex. Civ. App. Tyler (12<sup>th</sup> Dist.) 2014); *In re: The Stretford at the Cascades L.P.*, Case No. 12-60465 (Bank. E.D. Tex. 2012) (petition signed by Randy Light June 4, 2012).

Plaintiff's husband Kevin Luzak as president of CFRC, but the share certificate did not reflect Merrill Light as a co-trustee/shareholder and did not disclose to Kevin Luzak that Merrill Light had been made a co-trustee of Paul Barringer's revocable trust. (*Id.* at R. Vol. VII, p. 3086; R. Vol. IX, p. 3995 ¶¶ 29-31). This was consistent with Merrill Light's growing influence and control over her father and his CFRC stock and concerted efforts to hide all of this from Ms. Luzak.

During the spring of 2012 Paul Barringer had been suffering from extensive confusion and memory lapses regarding company affairs, such as forgetting he directed the sale of the company jet, forgetting the company made a significant commercial real estate investment in Virginia, and forgetting about important board presentations that company management, including Ms. Luzak's husband Kevin Luzak, had made to the board of directors. (*Id.* at R. Vol. IX, p. 3966, ¶¶ 12-19, 32-38; R. Vol. IX, p. 3989, ¶¶ 10-16, 28-37; R. Vol. VII, p. 2955). Mr. Barringer also became confused about prior board presentation materials Kevin Luzak had given the board in the past 15 months when Merrill Light re-submitted the materials to her father. (R. Vol. IX, p. 3998 ¶¶ 36-37).

When Paul Barringer was re-introduced to the prior board presentation materials by Merrill Light, he did not recall the prior company meetings, and he accused Kevin Luzak of plotting changes to the company behind his back and of trying to steal company assets. A year earlier, when the board was initially presented with the materials, Mr. Barringer had been involved in the board presentations and complimented Kevin Luzak on the soundness of the plans at that time. (R. Vol. IX, p. 3998 ¶ 36; R. Vol. VII, p. 3036).

On June 28, 2012, the board of directors, spearheaded by defendant Merrill Light, fired Ms. Luzak's husband, Kevin Luzak, as chief executive officer of CFRC in a special telephonic board meeting. (R. Vol. VIII, pp. 3184-3187). Decedent Paul Barringer, after receiving coaching

from the defendants in the room with him (defendants Merrill Light and Merrill Barringer), voted in favor of Kevin Luzak's removal as did defendant Merrill Light.<sup>6</sup> (*Id.*; *id.* at R. Vol. VIII, p. 3160, lines 9-12; R. Vol. I, p. 224 ¶ 2).

On July 20, 2012 Paul Barringer ostensibly changed his revocable trust by leaving his CFRC voting stock at his death to Merrill Light. The CFRC voting stock aside, Ms. Luzak remained an equal beneficiary with her siblings. (See R. Vol. V, p. 2047-2075).

On August 3, 2012, Merrill Light called a special shareholder's meeting for the purpose of removing Kevin Luzak from the board of directors. (See R. Vol. I, p. 243) Paul Barringer did not attend this meeting. At that shareholder's meeting, Merrill Light, under the guise of a power of attorney from Decedent Paul Barringer,<sup>7</sup> and without disclosing that she was actually acting as co-trustee, used the combined 51% voting interest of her and Paul Barringer's voting stock to remove Kevin Luzak as a director and replace him with Merrill Light's husband, Randy Light. (*Id.*). Consistent with the secrecy surrounding Merrill Light's appointment as co-trustee, no one, including Ms. Light, ever informed Ms. Luzak during this meeting that Merrill Light was a co-trustee of the Paul B. Barringer Revocable Trust. (R. Vol. II, p. 692 ¶ 78(a); R. Vol. III, p. 1134, R. Vol. III, p. 1041-1076).

By two documents dated September 11, 2012, an Assignment of Shares and a Stock Power, Paul Barringer as a co-trustee of the Paul B. Barringer Revocable Trust purportedly assigned and transferred all but one of his voting shares of non-party CFRC to Merrill Light as trustee of her own Merrill Barringer Light Revocable Trust. (R. Vol. I, pp. 251-253). This transfer was carried out with the assistance of Randy Light and others. (R. Vol. VII, pp. 3126-3132). Since Merrill

---

<sup>6</sup> Kevin Luzak was prohibited by the corporate attorney from voting due to Mr. Luzak being the subject of the vote, while the remaining director, Mike Hagler, an independent director, voted against Kevin Luzak's removal and disputed the validity of the vote while questioning Mr. Barringer's mental capacity. (*Id.* at R. VIII, p. 3184).

<sup>7</sup> As Ms. Luzak understood it at the time. (R. IX, p. 3975 ¶ 39).

Light already owned 31.2% of the voting stock, Paul Barringer's purported transfer of this 20% block from the Paul Barringer Revocable Trust gave Ms. Light 51.2% of the voting shares of CFRC and control. Thus she ostensibly became the controlling shareholder. (See R. Vol. I, p. 220). This transfer to the Merrill Light Revocable Trust occurred while Merrill Light was continuing to serve as co-trustee of the Paul Barringer Revocable Trust. (R. Vol. V, pp. 2047-2075; R. Vol. V, p. 2076-2107). Ms. Luzak was never informed of the purported stock transfer by anyone until CFRC was forced to do so two and half years later (described below). (R. Vol. II, p. 493 ¶ 84; R. Vol. IX, p. 4000 ¶ 40).

On June 12, 2014, years after Paul Barringer's cognitive impairment rendered him susceptible to undue influence, Paul Barringer, assisted by John Jolley, the Lights' own estate planning attorney, purportedly changed his revocable trust again, this time to eliminate Ms. Luzak as a beneficiary and to leave the share, previously designated for her, to her minor son instead. (R. Vol. V, p. 2076-2107). The same attorney for the Lights, who drafted the prior two sets of estate planning agreements in 2012, drafted this third trust restatement. (*Id.*) On each occasion, medical records had already established that Paul Barringer was incompetent due to Alzheimer's disease. (R. Vol. IX, p. 3981 ¶ 58; R. Vol. IX, p. 4009 ¶ 67).

But the truth eventually came out. In December 2014 when CFRC issued its annual financial statement for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2014, Ms. Luzak discovered a note in the 2014 financial statement about a stock issuance to an undisclosed officer. (R. Vol. III, p. 1141, R. Vol. III, pp. 1041-1076). Because Ms. Luzak did not believe her father, Paul Barringer, would ever agree to that, Ms. Luzak's attorney, pursuant to Ms. Luzak's statutory shareholder inspection rights,<sup>8</sup> made three written requests to CFRC asking for, among other items, a copy of the stock

---

<sup>8</sup> See Va. Code Ann. §§ 13.1-771 and -772 applicable to CFRC as a Virginia- incorporated entity.

transfer books of the corporation showing the stock ownership of the company since June 2012. (*Id.*) After the third request CFRC finally submitted on March 13, 2015 its stock register showing the transfer of Paul Barringer’s voting stock to Merrill Light’s trust. (*Id.*) It was only on March 13, 2015 that Ms. Luzak became aware of Ms. Light’s scheme to obtain control of CFRC.<sup>9</sup>

During this same time period, Paul Barringer on February 5, 2015, ostensibly changed his revocable trust and will for a final time, again with the assistance of John Jolley, the Lights’ long-time attorney. This amendment eliminated the share for Ms. Luzak’s minor son, thereby eliminating both Ms. Luzak and her son as beneficiaries of Mr. Barringer’s estate. (R. Vol. V, pp. 2155-2185). In 2014 and 2015, Paul Barringer’s mini-mental exam scores demonstrated his chronic lack of capacity. (See Issue Four, Section C, Parts Six and Seven below.)

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