RECEIVED

Nov 22 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.
2021-000837

In Re: IN THE MATTER OF: Estate of Paul Brandon Barringer II

Hampton B. LuzakAppellant

vs.

Merrill B. Light, Merrill U. Barringer as Personal Representative of the Estate of Paul Brandon Barringer II, Merrill B. Light as trustee of the Paul B. Barringer II Revocable Trust dated December 4, 1998, and Merrill B. Light as Trustee of the Merrill Barringer Light Revocable Trust Respondents

--and--

Coastal Forest Resources Company (“CFRC”)Intervenor/Respondent

--and--

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

trust for the benefit of Mrs. Barringer.”) and 34:17-35:5, R. pp. 4448-4449 (explaining that upon her death, Mrs. Barringer “has full authority to slice and dice and distribute” the trust assets among the descendants of Mr. Barringer); Jolley Dep. Vol. 1 43:9-44:8, R. 5942-5943 (explaining in February 2012 Amended Trust Mrs. Barringer had a power of appointment over the trust assets and if she did not exercise it, then the assets of the trust would be divided equally amongst their three children). The February 2012 Documents merely named Merrill Light as a co-trustee of Mr. Barringer’s Revocable Trust. (February 2012 Amended Trust, Introductory clause, R. p. 1972.) Mr. Barringer made this change on the advice of Slane and Jolley. (Jolley Dep. 33:24-35:6, R. pp. 5932-5934.) Luzak points to no evidence that Merrill Light even wanted to become co-trustee, much less that she influenced her father to make that decision. The record contains no evidence of threats, isolation or mental coercion by Merrill Light in connection with the February 2012 Documents.

Luzak points to a number of actions which occurred *after* February 28, 2012, and which she submits showed undue influence by Mrs. Light. But none of that evidence is relevant to Mr. Barringer’s condition on February 28, 2012, when he executed the February 2012 Documents. Indeed, Luzak’s reliance on evidence from later time periods only underscores the absence of proof needed to meet her burden as to the February 2012 Documents.

Luzak alleges Randy Light’s businesses were failing in 2012 in an effort to show that Merrill Light had a *motive* to unduly influence her father, but the law is clear that a mere showing of opportunity or motive does not create an issue of fact regarding undue influence. *In re Estate of Smith*, 419 S.C. at 117, 796 S.E.2d at 161. Luzak fails to allege even a single act by Merrill Light that allegedly caused Mr. Barringer to execute the February 2012 Documents, much less facts

showing that her influence was brought directly to bear on his execution of the documents.¹¹ Thus, the circuit court correctly concluded that Luzak failed to create a genuine issue of fact regarding undue influence.

Moreover, assuming (without conceding) that Merrill Light was in a fiduciary relationship with Mr. Barringer as of February 28, 2012, the circuit court correctly concluded that Light rebutted any presumption of undue influence. Light offered un rebutted testimony from Jolley and Slane, both of whom denied that Mr. Barringer was unduly influenced. Jolley testified that he met with Mr. Barringer alone to ensure that the planning reflected Mr. Barringer's wishes. (*Id.*, 24:2-25:16, R. pp. 5923-5924.) He never had trouble getting access to Mr. Barringer. (*Id.*, 26:1-7, R. p. 5925.) He met with Mr. Barringer privately at the office and at Mr. Barringer's home, he emailed with him directly, and he spoke with him on the telephone. (*Id.*, 26:8-20, R. p. 5925.) Jolley testified he was never concerned that Mr. Barringer was being unduly influenced in any way. (*Id.*, 27:23-28:1, R. p. 5926.)

Slane also saw no evidence of undue influence. Slane had private conversations with Mr. Barringer, and no one restricted his ability to speak with Mr. Barringer alone regarding his estate planning. (Slane Dep. 121:25-122:6, R. pp. 3870-3871.) Slane recalled that Merrill Light brought her father to one meeting either in February or April 2012. (*Id.*, 120:12-18, R. p. 3869.) He confirmed, however, that Light played no role in the meeting. (*Id.*, 120:12-21, R. p. 3869.) Moreover, he testified that no one tried to influence Slane to have Light designated as co-trustee in February 2012. (*Id.*, 130:15-22, R. p. 1499.) Mr. Barringer "select[ed] Merrill Light freely and voluntarily." (*Id.*, 130:23-131:1, R. pp. 1499-1450.) And Mr. Barringer chose Merrill Light to be

¹¹ In her deposition, Luzak could not identify evidence of undue influence exerted on Mr. Barringer when he executed the February 2012 Documents. (R. pp. 3865-3866.)

his co-trustee because she was the “[c]losest, local, qualified person.” (*Id.* 124:8-9, R. p. 3873.) In short, Slane testified he never had a “concern that someone was influencing [Mr. Barringer] to do something with respect to his estate plan that he did not want to do.” (*Id.* 121:21-24, R. p. 3870.)

Further, as outlined above, the medical evidence from Dr. Long and Dr. Garrett indicates that, although Mr. Barringer had some signs of dementia at this time, he scored a perfect score on the Mini Mental exam. There is thus no evidence that he was susceptible to undue influence at this time. *See Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.*, 353 S.C. 208, 219–20, 578 S.E.2d 329, 335 (2003) (relying in part on absence of “an opinion that Testator was mentally incompetent and therefore more susceptible to undue influence”).

Because Luzak failed to present any evidence of undue influence, much less evidence that a reasonable finder of fact could determine to be “unmistakable and convincing” and bearing upon the testamentary act on February 28, 2012, the circuit court correctly granted Respondents summary judgment on this issue.

C. Luzak failed to create a genuine issue of material fact that Mr. Barringer executed the February 2012 Documents by mistake.

Luzak fails even to identify the “mistake” that Mr. Barringer allegedly made in executing the February 2012 Documents. (App. Br. p. 58.) She argues that “if a testator or settlor does not know that he or he [sic] is making a Will, what it does, and how it operates, the Will is also the result of a mistake and is thus invalid.” (*Id.*) This is nothing more than restatement of her claim that Mr. Barringer lacked the mental capacity to understand the February 2012 Documents. But that allegation does not state a claim under South Carolina law for a challenge on the basis of mistake. *Hanahan v. Simpson*, 326 S.C. 140, 148–49, 485 S.E.2d 903, 907–08 (1997) (“It is the general rule that the validity of a will is not affected by a mistake of either law or fact unless a

mistake goes to the identity of the instrument or to fundamental error, as where, for example, two wills are drafted for different persons and one party signs that intended for another.”).

In *Hanahan*, the testator’s daughter alleged that the testator lacked capacity to understand a power of appointment in his will. In addition to alleging lack of capacity, the daughter challenged the will on the basis of mistake. *Id.* at 147, 485 S.E.2d at 907. The trial court granted a directed verdict against the daughter on the mistake claim. The South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed, reasoning as follows:

Although Hanahan’s evidence may be susceptible of the inference that Simpson did not have a very good understanding of the provision, or that he was unlikely to remember it for any length of time, there is simply no evidence he was “mistaken” about it. ***Simpson’s allegedly declining competency is simply insufficient grounds upon which to invalidate the provision.***

Id. at 150, 326 S.E.2d at 908 (emphasis added).

Like the will contestant in *Hanahan*, Luzak does not even allege that the February 2012 Documents contained any mistake that goes to the identity of the document. She merely alleges Mr. Barringer did not understand the document due to alleged diminished capacity. Accordingly, the circuit court properly granted summary judgment.

D. The circuit court properly held that the denial of Respondents’ previous motion for summary judgment on all claims did not require it to deny their later-filed motion for partial summary judgment as to the validity of the February 2012 Documents.

Next, Luzak incorrectly contends the circuit court lacked the authority to grant summary judgment merely because a prior judge had denied it. On December 30, 2020, Judge Carmen Mullen denied Defendant Merrill Light’s motion for summary judgment as to all causes of action in Civ. Action No. 2016-CP-07-1919 in a one-paragraph order. (12/20/2020 Order, R. pp. 33.) Judge Mullen’s Order does not discuss the facts of the case, identify any genuine issues of material

fact that existed with respect to Luzak's claims, or otherwise provide any substantive analysis. (*See id.*) After Judge Mullen issued this Order, the parties conducted extensive additional discovery, including taking several depositions. On February 19, 2021, Judge Mullen recused herself from this litigation.

In her Brief, Luzak argues that, even if Judge Price determined that Respondents are entitled to summary judgment on Luzak's claims to set aside the February 2012 Documents, the circuit court was not allowed to grant Respondents summary judgment, and instead was required to hold a trial on these claims, because of Judge Mullen's one paragraph Order. This is the opposite of the law. The test in South Carolina to decide whether one circuit judge may change a ruling made by a prior circuit judge in the same case and on the same issue is whether the original determination constitutes the law of the case. *See Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013). Because denials of motions to dismiss and summary judgment are not the law of the case, this rule does not apply to a denial of summary judgment. That is precisely why this Court has ruled, "[A] judge deciding a case on the merits is not bound by a prior order of another judge denying summary judgment. If the law were otherwise, a party could never obtain relief from an erroneous order denying summary judgment since orders denying summary judgment are never appealable, not even after final judgment." *Weil v. Weil*, 299 S.C. 84, 89, 382 S.E.2d 471, 473 (Ct. App. 1989).

Further, even under Rule 43(l), a denial of summary judgment may be revisited by a subsequent circuit judge when the state of facts has changed. *See* Rule 43(l), SCRCF (providing that "no subsequent motion upon the same state of facts shall be made to any other judge in that action."); *see, e.g., Smith v. Breedlove*, 377 S.C. 415, 662 S.E.2d 67 (2008) ("The fact that a different trial judge previously denied a motion for summary judgment does not preclude the

moving party from renewing its motion once new evidence is gathered.”); *Dorrell v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 312, 325, 605 S.E.2d 12, 18 (2004) (“That a different trial judge previously denied the motion did not preclude [Defendant] from renewing its motion once new evidence came to light.”); *PPG Indus., Inc. v. Orangeburg Paint & Decorating Ctr., Inc.*, 297 S.C. 176, 183, 375 S.E.2d 331, 334 (Ct. App. 1988) (rejecting the argument that a trial judge erred by granting summary judgment after previously denying summary judgment and holding: “A trial judge, until final judgment, controls the trial of the case before him, and as a general rule may amend, correct, modify, or otherwise change its findings of fact and conclusions of law before entry of judgment or decree.”).

Here, the parties conducted significant additional discovery between Judge Mullen’s Order denying summary judgment and the Summary Judgment Order. This additional discovery included the depositions of the following witnesses: Neill McBryde, who represented Mr. and Mrs. Barringer in the preparation and execution of their 1998 Wills and Trusts; John Jolley, who represented Mr. and Mrs. Barringer in the preparation and execution of their subsequent wills and trust amendments; two additional former McNair employees; Luzak’s husband, Kevin Luzak, whom Luzak identified as a witness who has evidence of the alleged promise made by Mrs. Barringer to Mr. Barringer; several Coastal Forest Resources Company (CFRC) employees, including Tom Evans, Stephanie Chapman and Travis Bryant; a Rule 30(b)(6) deposition of CFRC; Robert Scully, another attorney who represented Mr. Barringer; Mr. Barringer’s former secretary, Pat Harrell; and Mr. Barringer’s primary physician for decades, Dr. Paul Long. Thus, Light’s motion for summary judgment on the Lack of Capacity/Undue Influence Claims, was made based on a different underlying record of depositions and other

available evidence than the previously denied motion, and the circuit court therefore properly considered Light's motions on the merits.

E. The circuit court properly held that Respondents were not estopped from requesting summary judgment on the February 2012 Documents merely because Respondents also assert that Mr. Barringer's subsequent wills and trusts are valid.

Luzak argues that Respondents are "estopped" from asserting that the February 2012 Documents are valid because the documents were expressly revoked by subsequent versions of Mr. Barringer's estate planning documents that Respondents also contend are valid. (App. Br. 41-42). The circuit court properly rejected this argument.

For the doctrine of judicial estoppel to apply, the following elements must be satisfied: (1) two inconsistent positions taken by the same party or parties in privity with one another; (2) the positions must be taken in the same or related proceedings involving the same party or parties in privity with each other; (3) the party taking the position must have been successful in maintaining that position and have received some benefit; (4) the inconsistency must be part of an intentional effort to mislead the court; and (5) the two positions must be totally inconsistent. *Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Rhodes*, 405 S.C. 584, 598, 748 S.E.2d 781, 788 (2013). Further, "[j]udicial estoppel generally applies only to inconsistent statements of fact." *Hayne Fed. Credit Union v. Bailey*, 327 S.C. 242, 251, 489 S.E.2d 472, 477 (1997).

The circuit court correctly found that judicial estoppel does not apply because, among other reasons, Respondents have not taken inconsistent factual positions. Luzak asserted that every testamentary document executed by Mr. Barringer, beginning with the February 2012 Documents, is invalid due to incapacity, undue influence and/or mistake. Merrill Light's position in her motion for summary judgment was that, although Mr. Barringer's final will and revocable trust revoked prior versions, each prior version was valid when executed. There is nothing inconsistent about

this position.¹² Further, Respondents have not “been successful” in maintaining any prior factually inconsistent position, and nothing in Light’s summary judgment motion was part of an effort to mislead the Court. Accordingly, the circuit court correctly found that Respondents were not judicially estopped.

II. THE COURT SHOULD DISMISS THE BIFURCATION ORDER AS MOOT OR BECAUSE IT IS NOT IMMEDIATELY APPEALABLE OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, THE BIFURCATION ORDER SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

A. The circuit court’s Order granting Mrs. Barringer summary judgment on the Contract-Based Claims rendered Luzak’s appeal of the Bifurcation Order moot.

“Generally, this Court only considers cases presenting a justiciable controversy.” *Sloan v. Friends of the Hunley, Inc.*, 369 S.C. 20, 25, 630 S.E.2d 474, 477 (2006). “An appellate court will not pass on moot and academic questions or make an adjudication where there remains no actual controversy.” *Curtis v. State*, 345 S.C. 557, 567, 549 S.E.2d 591, 596 (2001). “A moot case exists where a judgment rendered by the court will have no practical legal effect upon an existing controversy because an intervening event renders any grant of effectual relief impossible for the reviewing court.” *Sloan*, 369 S.C. at 26, 630 S.E.2d at 477.

Here, subsequent events rendered Luzak’s appeal of the Bifurcation Order moot. Before the scheduled date for a trial on the Contract-Based Claims, the circuit court granted Mrs. Barringer’s motions for summary judgment on the Contract-Based Claims and subsequently

¹² Nor does the Summary Judgment Order state that the February 2012 Documents were not revoked by subsequent versions of Mr. Barringer’s will and trust. The circuit court ruled only that the February 2012 Documents are not invalid due to lack of testamentary capacity, undue influence or mistake. (Summary Judgment Order p. 1, R. 59.) Although the Order states that the February 2012 Documents are “valid,” the circuit court was not ruling on the impact of any subsequent versions of Mr. Barringer’s will and trust because that issue was not before the court.

denied Luzak’s motion to reconsider that decision. Accordingly, Luzak’s appeal of the Bifurcation Order is now moot.

B. The Bifurcation Order is not immediately appealable.

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